
United Nations Conference on Succession of States in Respect of Treaties 
 

Vienna, Austria 
First session 

4 April – 6 May 1977 
 
 

Document:- 
A/CONF.80/C.1/SR.25 

 
25th meeting of the Committee of the Whole 

 
 
 

Extract from Volume I of the Official Records of the United Nations Conference on  
Succession of States in Respect of Treaties (Summary records of the plenary  

meetings and of the meetings of the Committee of the Whole) 
 

 

 

 

 

Copyright © United Nations 



170 Summary records — Committee of the Whole

25th MEETING

Friday, 22 April 1977, at 3.40p.m.

Chairman: Mr. RIAD (Egypt)

In the absence of the Chairman, Mr. Ritter (Switzer-
land), Vice-chairman, took the Chair.

Consideration of the question of succession of States
in respect of treaties in accordance with resolutions
3496 (XXX) and 31/18 adopted by the General As-
sembly on IS December 1975 and 24 November 1976

[Agenda item 11] {continued)

ARTICLE 16 (Participation in treaties in force at the
date of the succession of States) and PROPOSED NEW
ARTICLE 16 bis (Participation in treaties of a univer-
sal character in force at the date of the succession
of States)1 (continued)

1. Mr. MIRCEA (Romania) said that if it was not
intended to call the "clean slate" principle in ques-
tion, draft article 16 was a procedural article designed
to make it possible for newly independent States to
become parties to a certain category of treaties by the
simplified procedure of notification of succession. On
that interpretation, he found it difficult to understand
the relevance of paragraph 2, which, as the represen-
tative of Senegal had observed,2 appeared to be an
additional limitation on the right of such States to
choose whether or not to become party to a treaty.
If the treaty had been applicable to the territory be-
fore succession, how could its application thereto
subsequently be incompatible with its object and pur-
pose, unless either the predecessor State or the other
parties to the treaty had been acting in bad faith in
the first place?

2. In paragraph 3 of article 16, it should be made
clear that all the elements involved, namely, the
number of States, the terms of the treaty and its ob-
ject and purpose, must be considered jointly.

3. He congratulated the sponsors of the proposals
before the Committee on producing texts which were
compatible with the present draft article 16 and filled
the lacuna left by the International Law Commission,
which had failed to deal with the period between the
date of the succession and the time when the succes-
sor State indicated its intention to accept or terminate
a multilateral treaty.

4. The presumption provided for in the Netherlands
amendment (A/CONF.80/C.1/L.35) entailed serious

legal consequences for the newly independent State:
under the last clause of subparagrah (b) of the pro-
posed paragraph 4, it could forfeit the right to with-
draw from a treaty. The proposed definition of the
term "multilateral treaty open to universal participa-
tion" was acceptable, but it would not cover all
cases; for example, treaties of a universal character
not concluded within the framework of the United
Nations would not contain a clause on participation
by States Members of the United Nations.

5. The Soviet proposal for a new article 16 bis
(A/CONF.80/C.1/L.22) adopted a different legal ap-
proach and was based on concepts such as provi-
sional application and suspension, already employed
in the International Law Commission's text. The pro-
posed definition of the term "treaty of a universal
character" was more complete than that of the Neth-
erlands, since it included treaties the object or pur-
pose of which were "of interest to the international
community as a whole". That clause suggested a
wider participation by newly independent States in
treaties to which all States could become parties by
reason of their purpose and provisions.

6. He would support amendment of the present text
of article 16 along the lines proposed.

7. Mr. SHAHABUDDEEN (Guyana) said that the
Soviet representative, in introducing his proposal for
a new article 16 bis, had held it to be consistent with
the "clean slate" principle3 because a treaty would
apply only provisionally in the first instance, and the
newly independent State would be free to withdraw
by giving notice. But those provisions were no sub-
stitute for the theoretical need for prior consent,
since they referred to a stage after the treaty had be-
gun to apply; the provisional aspect merely con-
cerned the basis and duration of its operation. Hence,
in principle, the consent of the newly independent
State would seem to be required, as was shown by
the provisions of draft article 26. For that reason, his
delegation preferred the Netherlands amendment.

8. The suggestion by the Indian representative that
a requirement of expression of consent by the newly
independent State should be included,4 seemed con-
trary to the object of both the Netherlands and the
Soviet proposals, which took account of the fact that
it was usually impossible to obtain such consent in
time to avoid a break in the application of the treaty.
Otherwise, the provisions already included in the
draft articles would be adequate.

9. The representative of the United Republic of
Tanzania had questioned the need for the proposals
submitted by the Netherlands and the Soviet Union5

in view of the provisions of draft article 22. However,

1 For the amendment submitted to article 16, see 23rd meeting,
foot-note 14.

2 See above, 24th meeting, para. II .

3 See above, 24th meeting, para. 6.
4 See above, 24th meeting, paras. 27 and 29.
5 See above, 24th meeting, paras. 37-42.



25th meeting — 22 April 1977 171

paragraph 2 of that article provided that the operation
of the treaty should be considered as suspended until
the date of making the notification of succession, ex-
cept so far as the treaty might be applied provision-
ally in accordance with article 26, which also called
for the prior consent of the newly independent State.
The inevitable delay in expressing that consent
would cause a period of uncertain relations with
other States parties and with international organiza-
tions, which the Netherlands and Soviet proposals
were designed to eliminate.

10. Mr. NATHAN (Israel) said that draft article 16
was unobjectionable since it proceeded on the prop-
osition stated in paragraph (2) of the commentary
that "a newly independent State has a general right
of option to be a party to certain categories of mul-
tilateral treaties in virtue of its character as a succes-
sor State" (A/CONF.80/4, p. 55). That proposition
was amply supported by modern State practice.

11. The proposals by the Netherlands and the Soviet
Union shared a certain identity of purpose. Both
sought to avoid a vacuum in the treaty relations of
newly independent States where multilateral treaties
of a universal character were concerned. Such treaties
were obviously of general importance to the interna-
tional community as a whole, and it was useful that
stability and continuity should prevail in their appli-
cation. Nevertheless, certain difficulties might arise
in applying the provisions of the proposals by the
Netherlands and the Soviet Union to State practice.

12. Newly independent States were not always
aware of all the multilateral treaties which had been
made applicable to their territories by a variety of
modes of application, and even less of the financial
and other consequences of their participation, which
it might take them some time to assess. Constructive
notice of the contents of such treaties could not
therefore be imputed to newly independent States.
The Netherlands amendment took some account of
those difficulties, in that it did not seek to impose on
the new State a duty of participation in any multi-
lateral treaty and that it gave the State the right to
opt out by giving notice of termination, provided it
had not invoked the benefit of the treaty.

13. In the proposal by the Soviet Union, treaties of
the category in question were made applicable to
newly independent States by a mandatory provision
in paragraph 1; it was not clear, however, why the
right of the State to opt out, rather than accept pro-
visional application of the treaty, was not stated in
equally definite terms. Indeed, in paragraph (2) of the
commentary to draft article 26, the International Law
Commission had expressed the view that "The pro-
visional application of a multilateral treaty as such
hardly seems possible, except in the case of a 're-
stricted' multilateral treaty and then only with the
agreement of all the parties. The reason is that par-
ticipation in a multilateral treaty is governed by its
final clauses which do not, unless perhaps in rare

cases, contemplate the possibility of participation on
a provisional basis, i.e. on a basis different from that
of the parties to the treaty inter se" (ibid., pp. 84-85).

14. There was another point which, in principle,
would commend the Netherlands amendment for
adoption. The proposal by the Soviet Union would
cover what was called a "treaty of a universal
character", as defined in the first paragraph of the pre-
amble to the Declaration on Universal Participation
in the Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties.6

That definition might be open to a variety of inter-
pretations. Treaties "the object and purpose of which
are of interest to the international community as a
whole", might include the Universal Copyright Con-
vention, treaties on dangerous drugs, commodity
agreements and other arrangements of an economic
nature, to which, however, a large number of States
had not become parties. The Vienna Convention on
the Law of Treaties itself had wisely refrained from
any specific categorization of treaties.

15. He wished to propose a number of drafting
changes in the Netherlands amendment which might
have some bearing on the underlying legal concepts.
With reference to subparagraph (a) of the proposed
paragraph 4, he did not think that a newly indepen-
dent State could be presumed to "be desirous" of be-
ing a party; the presumption was rather that at the
date of the succession it was already a party to the
treaty in question. A similar presumption should be
made with regard to the termination of the treaty
provided for in subparagraph (c). The two phrases
should therefore read respectively: "A newly inde-
pendent State shall be presumed to be a party to any
multilateral treaty..." and "A treaty referred to in
subparagraph (a) of this paragraph shall be deemed
not to have entered into force...". The wording of
subparagraph (a) should also be tightened up by the
addition of the words "at the date of succession" af-
ter the words "which was in force" in the third line,
and of the words "as from the date of succession"
after the words "other States parties to the treaty" in
the sixth line. Subject to those changes, he was pre-
pared to support the Netherlands amendment.

16. Mr. RANJEVA (Madagascar) said that his dele-
gation had no objection to draft article 16, but there
would be practical difficulties in applying it. That jus-
tified the submission of the two amendments which
did not differ greatly in substance. The matter should
not be considered on the theoretical plane, but in
terms of practical problems.

17. There were two types of multilateral treaty: or-
dinary treaties with more than two parties and uni-
versal treaties. Paragraph 3 of article 16 made the dis-
tinction in its reference to "the limited number of
negotiating States", but did not specify what that

6 Official Records of the United Nations Conference on the Law
of Treaties, Documents of the Conference (United Nations publi-
cation, Sales No. E.70.V.5), p. 285.



172 Summary records — Committee of the Whole

number might be. The definition by the Soviet
Union of a "treaty of a universal character" was in-
teresting in that it related to the essence and func-
tions of international law, but it should be supple-
mented by the Netherlands definition of a "multilat-
eral treaty open to universal participation", prefer-
ably, however, in the form which that definition as-
sumed in article 81 of the Vienna Convention on the
Law of Treaties.

18. It was just conceivable that the continuity of
universal multilateral treaties could be accepted as an
exception to the "clean slate" principle by the trans-
position, mutatis mutandis, with respect to such in-
struments of the principles of customary law, so that
they would be considered as a formal expression of
an aspiration to a rule of law. However, there were
limits in law, and particularly international law, to
how far such transposition could be taken. Moreover,
such treaties did not necessarily reflect either uni-
versal aspirations or the aspirations of the third world
countries, and some provision should therefore be
made for obtaining the consent of States to be bound
by the treaties in question. Subject to the incorpor-
ation of a clear definition of what was meant by
"treaty of a universal character", his delegation would,
as a last resort, be prepared to consider the proposal
by the Soviet Union. The principle by which the In-
ternational Law Commission had been guided in
drafting article 16 was valid and acceptable with re-
gard to multilateral treaties of a regional character.

19. As it stood, article 16 made no mention of the
important question of the time-limit for the notifica-
tion by a successor State of its participation or other-
wise in treaties. The proposal by the Soviet Union
sought to fill that gap by providing that treaties
should provisionally remain in force and by giving
the successor State total discretion as to the time
when it announced its decision concerning a treaty.
But if all the treaties of the predecessor State con-
tinued to be valid, even provisionally, it would be im-
possible for the successor State to know just what its
rights and obligations were. A newly independent
State should not merely be told that it remained en-
tirely free to participate in a multilateral agreement;
it should be part of the duties of the depositary of
such an agreement, whether it was of a universal or
of a regional character, to inform the newly inde-
pendent State of the advantages or and disadvantages
of such participation. It would seem reasonable to re-
quire a newly independent State to notify its inten-
tions in regard to a treaty six months after it had re-
ceived that information.

20. His delegation considered that paragraph 3 of
draft article 16 had no relevance to the question of
succession of States, but was linked directly to that
of accession to international treaties—a problem
which could be automatically solved by recognition
that successor States had the right to accede to such
instruments in an exceptional manner.

21. He would like the Netherlands delegation to ex-
plain what it meant by the phrase "provided it has
not invoked the benefits of that treaty after the date
of succession of States", which appeared in subpara-
graph (b) of the proposed paragraph 4. The logic of
the proposal by the Netherlands was that a successor
State was bound by, and therefore necessarily bene-
fited from, a treaty until such time as it gave notice
of termination of it; and such notice could, at the
earliest, be given on the date of succession.

22. Mr. MIKULKA (Czechoslovakia) said that his
delegation had upheld the "clean slate" principle
stated in article 15 at all stages of the discussion of
the draft articles. Far from being contrary to that
principle, the proposals of the Soviet Union and the
Netherlands concerning article 16 were designed to
help a newly independent State in dealing with mul-
tilateral treaties of a universal character, without the
requirement of a notification of succession with re-
spect to those treaties. During the often lengthy and
complex process of succession of States, it might be
difficult to determine the precise moment when such
a notification of succession would be possible, where-
as the successor State had a vital interest in preserv-
ing the treaties of a universal character without a
temporary interruption.

23. Of the two proposals, his delegation preferred
that of the Soviet Union: it fitted better into the ex-
isting text of article 16 and, unlike the Netherlands
amendment, did not use the words "A newly inde-
pendent State shall be presumed to be desirous",
which was a somewhat unusual expression to employ
in an international convention. In addition, it was
only logical to deal in a separate provision with a
category of multilateral treaties which were of such
exceptional importance as those designed to promote
international peace and security or the codification
and progressive development of international law.
The proposal by the Soviet Union could in no sense
be construed as referring to all the treaties covered by
draft article 16, which his delegation wished to see
incorporated in the convention together with the pro-
posed new article 16 bis.

24. Mr. MEISSNER (German Democratic Republic)
observed that the International Law Commission had
stressed (in paragraph (6) of its commentary to ar-
ticle 15), with regard to the relationship between the
principle of self-determination and the law relating to
succession in respect of treaties, that the "clean
slate" metaphor was misleading if account was not
also taken of other principles which affected the pos-
ition of a newly independent State in relation to the
treaties of its predecessor (ibid., p. 52). It was the
view of his delegation that the duty of States to co-
operate with one another in accordance with the
Charter of the United Nations was of paramount im-
portance, and that the proposed article 16 bis was
fully in keeping with the "clean slate" principle in that
respect. His delegation saw the proposal by the Soviet
Union as providing, not an exception to the "clean



25th meeting — 22 April 1977 173

slate" principle, but another means of applying it,
through the mechanism of opting out. A provision of
that nature was justified in view of the importance of
multilateral treaties of a universal character for inter-
national co-operation and security, and his delegation
therefore supported its inclusion in the future con-
vention.

25. Mrs. OLOWO (Uganda) said that her delegation
was unable to accept either the proposal of the Soviet
Union or that of the Netherlands, although it appre-
ciated the motives behind them. The proposal by the
Soviet Union was clearly contrary both to the "clean
slate" principle, on which the Committee as a whole
had agreed, and to the principle of the self-determin-
ation of peoples. Furthermore, by offering newly in-
dependent States the possibility of opting out of trea-
ties, the proposal placed pressure on them to define,
within an inevitably limited time, their attitude to
provisions in whose formulation they had taken no
part.

26. With regard to the Netherlands amendment, her
delegation would find subparagraph (a) of the pro-
posed new paragraph 4 acceptable, if account was
taken of the comments made by the representative of
Kenya.7 It could not, however, accept the subsequent
subparagraphs, since they again put pressure on the
newly independent State by presuming it to be bound
by the treaty. Consequently, her delegation supported
draft article 16 as it stood.

27. Mr. AMLIE (Norway) remarked that article 16
formed a corollary to article 15, in that it afforded
newly independent States the possibility of accepting
treaties, whereas the previous article provided that
they were not bound by such instruments merely by
reason of the fact of succession. Taken together,
those two articles represented a very harmonious sys-
tem, of which his Government fully approved.

28. The articles also gave the impression, however,
that they did not altogether satisfy the requirement
of continuity in international relations, and he had
therefore been instructed to take a positive attitude
to all proposals which sought to fill that apparent gap
in the future convention. That was, in fact, the aim
of the proposals submitted by the Netherlands and
the Soviet Union, which were designed to establish
a collateral system, whereby continuity would be as-
sured by exempting certain treaties from the rules
which normally applied in the event of a succession.
He had studied those proposals with great care and
had found that the sponsors were treading on
dangerous ground. Moreover, having listened to the
statements made by other delegations, he now saw a
picture taking shape in which the "clean slate" prin-
ciple, supplemented by the possibility for a newly in-
dependent State to accept a treaty, was being so
tightly squeezed between two walls that its expres-

sion and application might become only an exercise
in empty words.

29. The first wall was constituted by draft article 16,
paragraph 3. His delegation accepted that paragraph
because it provided that the newly independent State
could establish its status as a party to the treaty only
with the consent of all the parties. The second wall
was constituted by the Netherlands amendment and
the proposal by the Soviet Union, which provided
that the newly independent State was bound by a
treaty and could opt out only in certain circum-
stances. His delegation considered that the second
wall should not be made so large and heavy that
there would be no room for application of the "clean
slate" principle. In deciding how that second wall
was to be built, account should be taken of the scope
of the treaties in question and of the machinery for
their application.

30. With regard to the scope of the treaties to be in-
cluded in the collateral system, the proposal by the
Soviet Union was based on substantive criteria. It
defined the treaties to be included as "treaties of a
universal character in force at the date of the succes-
sion of States". That definition had been supple-
mented by the representative of Hungary,8 who had
provided a valuable survey of three categories of trea-
ties. The representative of Brazil had also mentioned
other categories of treaties which might be of a uni-
versal character.9 His delegation could not, however,
accept the proposal by the Soviet Union, because the
definition it contained would never be sufficient; its
scope was so wide that it would have no room for
application of the "clean slate" principle embodied in
draft articles 15 and 16.

31. The Netherlands amendment did not try to de-
fine the scope of the treaties to be included in the
collateral system. It merely applied the formal cri-
terion that the treaties were "open to participation by
a least all States Members of the United Nations".
But there were many international agreements open
to universal participation, which, strictly speaking,
were not of a universal character. Thus the Nether-
lands approach to the treaties to be included in the
collateral system was even broader than the Soviet
approach and would constitute an even greater
danger to the application of the "clean slate" principle.

32. With regard to the machinery for the application
of multilateral treaties proposed by the Netherlands
and the Soviet Union, the Soviet system was that the
treaty should be provisionally in force for the newly
independent State until it gave notice of termination.
That was a very strict provision to apply to newly in-
dependent States, which might be forced, without
their knowledge, to become parties to treaties which
were not in their interests. In addition, they would
only be able to opt out by the machinery provided in

7 See above, 24th meeting, para. 16.

8 See above, 24th meeting, para. 24.
9 See above, 24th meeting, para. 32.



174 Summary records — Committee of the Whole

those treaties, which could, inter alia, have unexpect-
ed financial implications.

33. The system proposed in the Netherlands
amendment did not really represent a softer line. It
provided that if a newly independent State gave no-
tice of termination of a treaty within 12 months after
the succession of States had taken place, the termi-
nation had retroactive effect to the date of the suc-
cession. His reaction to that provision was that no
newly independent State could possibly ascertain
within 12 months whether or not it wished to con-
tinue to be a party to a treaty, and that no newly in-
dependent State would be able to rid itself of its ob-
ligations under any treaty with retroactive effect to
the succession of States. Consequently, the only
thing the newly independent State could do would be
to give notice of termination after the 12-month
period had elapsed. It would then be in the same situ-
ation as it would be under the system proposed by
the Soviet Union, as the representative of Uganda
had pointed out.

34. The proposed new paragraph 4, subparagraph (b)
of the Netherlands amendment contained the idea
that, if a newly independent State had not invoked
the benefits of a treaty after the date of the succes-
sion of States, it could terminate the treaty under the
provisions of the future convention alone. The idea
of invoking the benefits of a treaty was extremely
vague and would only increase the probability of dis-
putes between States.

35. His delegation accordingly considered that the
proposals by the Netherlands and the Soviet Union
were not likely to lead to the results desired by the
majority of the Committee, and it could not support
them.

36. Mr. HASSAN (Egypt) said that draft article 16
gave the newly independent State a general right of
option to be a party to certain categories of multilat-
eral treaties by virtue of its status as a successor
State. That general right was based on State practice
and was a clear-cut example of the application of the
"clean slate" principle. The International Law Com-
mission's text of the article was well-balanced and in
keeping with article 15, and his delegation therefore
supported it as it stood.

37. The amendment submitted by the Netherlands
and the proposal by the Soviet Union were designed
primarily to ensure continuity, but they provided for
exceptions to the "clean slate" principle. Those ex-
ceptions could be justified only if it was considered
that draft articles 16 and 22 did not fulfil their in-
tended purpose. His delegation was, however, satis-
fied that they did fulfil that purpose. Hence it could
not, support the Netherlands amendment, which
provided for an exception to the "clean slate" prin-
ciple by the presumption that a newly independent
State was desirous of being a party to any multilat-
eral treaty open to universal participation in force at

the date of succession, or the new article 16 bis pro-
posed by the Soviet Union, which also provided for
such an exception by providing that any treaty of
universal character in force at the date of succession
would be provisionally in force for the newly inde-
pendent State.

38. It was clear to his delegation that both those
proposals amounted to a negation of the will of the
newly independent State, even if only for a limited
period of time. They contradicted the general rule of
option embodied in draft article 16 and did not take
account of the difficulties which the new State might
encounter in the early stages of independence. More-
over, the proposals could be taken to mean that the
newly independent State was unable to take the ap-
propriate decisions, and his delegation found it diffi-
cult to accept such an implication.

Mr. Riad (Egypt) took the Chair.

39. Mr. AL-SERKAL (United Arab Emirates) said
that his delegation supported draft article 16, which
reaffirmed the "clean slate" principle and allowed
newly independent States to decide whether they
wished to be parties to multilateral treaties in force
at the date of succession.

40. By contrast, the amendment submitted by the
Netherlands and the proposal by the Soviet Union
provided for the continuity of the treaty relations of
the newly independent State. They thus constituted
exceptions to the "clean slate" principle by implying
that a newly independent State's silence could be in-
terpreted to mean that it consented to be bound by
the treaties in force at the time of the succession.
Those proposals were likely to create enormous dif-
ficulties and his delegation could not support them.

41. Mr. LA (Sudan) said his delegation was of the
opinion that draft article 16 should be adopted as it
stood because, in preparing the draft articles, the
most significant step the International Law Commis-
sion had taken had been to give effect to the "clean
slate" principle. Thus article 16, paragraph 1, pro-
vided that a newly independent State might, by a no-
tification of succession, establish its status as a party
to any multilateral treaty in force at the time of suc-
cession and gave it an option to decide whether it ac-
cepted or wished to terminate multilateral treaties.
That option was perfectly in keeping with the "clean
slate" principle embodied in article 15.

42. The amendment submitted by the Netherlands
and the proposal submitted by the Soviet Union both
presumed that multilateral treaties continued in force
for the newly independent State unless it expressly
signified its intention to terminate them. His delega-
tion understood the motives of the Netherlands and
the Soviet Union in submitting their proposals, which
aimed at maintaining continuity in treaty relations,
but it could not support them because they did not
take account of the generally accepted practice of
opting in.



25th meeting — 22 April 1977 175

43. Mr. KRISHNADASAN (Swaziland) said that his
delegation was satisfied with draft article 16 and did
not think that the amendment submitted by the
Netherlands and the proposal by the Soviet Union
would necessarily improve it. As it stood, the article
did not go too far in the 'direction of continuity and
safeguarded the "clean slate" principle established in
favour of newly independent States by allowing them
to opt out of any multilateral treaty in force at the
date of the succession.

44. As to the kind of treaties to which the newly
independent State's right to opt out applied, no mat-
ter whether a treaty was said to be "of a universal
character" or "open to universal participation", trea-
ties of a universal character seemed to be what was
intended because, ultimately, treaties open to univer-
sal participation were of a universal character. The
basic difficulty was one of definition: for example,
the Treaty on the Non-Proliferation of Nuclear
Weapons (General Assembly resolution 2373 (XXII))
seemed to some members of the international com-
munity to be of a universal character, while other
members considered it as being loaded in favour of
the nuclear Powers. Difficulties and confusion would
arise if such a treaty were provisionally in force for
a newly independent State after the date of the suc-
cession, as provided in the proposal by the Soviet
Union, or if it were presumed that the newly inde-
pendent State was desirous of being a party to it, as
provided in the Netherlands amendment.

45. Many delegations seemed to have placed the
strongest emphasis on the rights of States deriving
from multilateral treaties. But account should also be
taken of the obligations deriving from such treaties,
particularly financial obligations, of which many new-
ly independent States might not be aware and which
they would need time to determine. Consequently,
his delegation was of the opinion that it was impor-
tant to maintain the freedom of choice provided by
the "clean slate" rule, as had been done in the In-
ternational Law Commission's text of draft article 16.

46. Paragraph 2 of the proposal by the Soviet Union
provided that reservations to a treaty would be pro-
visionally valid for the newly independent State un-
der the same conditions as for the predecessor State.
Experience had shown, however, that the way such
reservations operated after a State had achieved in-
dependence was entirely different from the way in
which they had operated before. For example, the
predecessor State often applied treaties to a colony
without necessarily realizing what the full implica-
tions of the treaties would be for the colony when it
became independent. In the case of a humanitarian
treaty such as the Convention relating to the Status
of Refugees (General Assembly resolution 429 (V)), it
might be found that, when the colony had achieved
independence, many of the predecessor State's reser-
vations would not be acceptable to it, or that it
wished to make further reservations to that Conven-

tion in the interests of its security. Paragraph 3 of the
proposal by the Soviet Union appeared to contain a
contradiction: if the predecessor State had been
bound by only part of a treaty, how could that treaty
qualify as being of a universal character?

47. In the Netherlands amendment, the words "any
multilateral treaty open to universal participation", in
the new paragraph 4, subparagraph (a), had even
wider implications than the equivalent wording of the
proposal by the Soviet Union. Moreover, he shared
the view expressed by the representative of India that
the words "A newly independent State shall be pre-
sumed to be desirous of being a party" clearly con-
stituted an inadequate criterion in a convention such
as the one the Conference was trying to adopt.10 The
proposed new paragraph 4, subparagraph (b), stipulat-
ing that a newly independent State could terminate
a treaty "provided it has not invoked the benefits of
that treaty after the date of succession of States", did
not make it clear how the international community
was to know whether or not a newly independent
State had in fact invoked the benefits of the treaty.

48. With regard to the proposed new paragraph 4,
subparagraph (c), he agreed with the representatives
of Uganda and Norway that that provision was simi-
lar to the corresponding provision of the proposal
by the Soviet Union. His delegation also had some
difficulty in understanding the effect of the proposed
new paragraph 4, subparagraph (c) (i). Experience had
shown that a period of several years would be much
more realistic than the 12-month period provided for
in that subparagraph. What would happen if the no-
tice was given within 11 months? The Netherlands
amendment did not make it clear whether the treaty
would be applicable during those 11 months or not.
Thus, one of the gaps which the Netherlands had
sought to fill in submitting its amendment was still
open.

49. Mr. BROVKA (Byelorussian Soviet Socialist
Republic) said that his delegation was in favour of
the inclusion of an article 16 bis in the draft and sup-
ported the adoption of the proposal by the Soviet
Union. The provisions of that proposal would help to
fill a legal vacuum and to solve the problems faced
by newly independent States in the period immedi-
ately following their attainment of independence—a
period when such countries had many difficult de-
cisions to take and few people qualified to take them.

50. Article 16 bis would relate specifically to treaties
of a universal character, which included treaties for
the promotion of international co-operation, peace
and security, which codified the generally accepted
norms of present-day international law. Succession to
such treaties of a universal character by newly inde-
pendent States would therefore help them to promote
their own national interests by enabling them to take

i° See above, 24th meeting, para. 27.



176 Summary records — Committee of the Whole

their place as equal partners in the international com-
munity.

51. It was desirable to avoid even a short-term sus-
pension of the application of such treaties to newly
independent States, which should be given a chance
to opt for the rights and advantages of those treaties.
In the event of a suspension, as referred to in draft
article 22, paragraph 2, not only the newly indepen-
dent State, but all the other parties to a treaty of a
universal character would be released from their ob-
ligations under the treaty—a circumstance which
would benefit neither the newly independent State
nor the international community in general.

52. Consequently, there was justification for a pro-
vision in the draft convention to the effect that any
treaty of a universal character in force at the date of
a succession of States should remain in force provi-
sionally until such time as the newly independent
State signified that it would not terminate the treaty
provisions in respect of itself. The inclusion of such
a provision did not contradict the "clean slate"
principle, since the newly independent State would
retain the right to notify termination or, as provided
in paragraph 4 of the proposal by the Soviet Union,
to establish its status as a party to the treaty.

53. The inclusion of a provision such as the pro-
posed article 16 bis was desirable despite the fact that
many provisions in international treaties of a univer-
sal character could be applied to newly independent
States on the basis of customary international law.
Experience had shown that it was better to have re-
course to the unambiguous provisions of such trea-
ties than to attempt the application of general rules,
the interpretation of which in particular situations
could give rise to difficulties.

54. In supporting the adoption of the proposed ar-
ticle 16 bis, his delegation likewise supported the
corresponding amendments to articles 16, 19, 20 and
21 and the addition of a subparagraph (a) bis to para-
graph 1 of article 2. The definition given in sub-
paragraph (a) bis of paragraph 1 of article 2 reproduced
the text of the first paragraph of the Declaration on
Universal Participation in the Vienna Convention on
the Law of Treaties, but the proposed definition of a
treaty of universal character could possible be further
improved.

55. Mr. SUTARASUWAN (Thailand) said that his
delegation would prefer draft article 16 to be retained
as it stood. The article upheld the principles of the
"clean slate" and of self-determination, for the bene-
fit of newly independent States. The amendment
submitted by the Netherlands and the proposal by
the Soviet Union would merely add to the procedures
incumbent on a newly independent State; his delega-
tion could not accept either of them.

56. Mr. SAKO (Ivory Coast) said that his delegation
endorsed draft article 16 with the exception of the

words "was in force in respect of the territory",
which, as he had said, should be replaced by the
words "was applicable to the territory". His del-
egation, too detected a note of presumption, to which
the Kenyan representative had drawn attention," in
paragraph 2 of that article.

57. With regard to the amendment submitted by
the Netherlands and the proposal by the Soviet
Union, the problem was how to reconcile observance
of the principles invoked by the International Law
Commission and the need to give developing coun-
tries the best practical help. Not all multilateral trea-
ties were useful to developing countries; on the other
hand, there were some treaties of a special character
which were most advantageous.

58. While recognizing all the efforts made to im-
prove and clarify the article and to avoid jeopardizing
its basic principle, of the two proposals submitted, his
delegation would choose that of the Netherlands.
The "walls" which it set up were not as formidable
as the Norwegian representative had made out; the
Ivory Coast delegation found them easy to surmount.

59. Mr. DAMDINDORJ (Mongolia) said that the
"clean slate" principle was of the utmost importance,
especially to newly independent States, and was a
guarantee of international peace and security. His
delegation had stressed the importance of that prin-
ciple in accepting article 15, which stated it in the
clearest possible form. Article 16, as previous speak-
ers had noted, was an indispensable part of the draft
convention, and in basing it, too, on the "clean
slate" principle, the International Law Commission
had produced a well-balanced text.

60. The amendment submitted by the Netherlands
and the proposal by the Soviet Union represented dif-
ferent approaches to certain situations but had some
features in common. Some delegations objected to
the proposal by the Soviet Union because they
seemed to think that it did not confine itself to the
"clean slate" principle. His delegation, however, was
one of those which supported that proposal; in its
view, the text of the proposed article 16 bis in no way
detracted from that principle; indeed, paragraph 4
provided that a newly independent State might estab-
lish its status as a party to a treaty of the type re-
ferred to in paragraph 1 at any time while such a
treaty remained provisionally in force. The proposal
by the Soviet Union related to multilateral treaties,
which merited special attention, particularly on ac-
count of the growing role of such treaties in the
promotion of international peace and security. In his
delegation's view it was not possible to isolate a
specific category of treaties of a universal character.

61. Mr. KATEKA (United Republic of Tanzania)
said his delegation thought that article 16, taken in
conjunction with article 22, made the amendment
submitted by the Netherlands and the proposal by

ii See above, 24th meeting, paras. 16 and 18.



26th meeting — 25 April 1977 177

the Soviet Union unnecessary. The notification pro-
vided for in article 22 related back to the date of suc-
cession or of entry into force of a treaty, so that even
a suspension of the type referred to in article 22,
paragraph 2, would not create a legal vacuum. In
fact, the International Law Commission had said in
paragraphs (13) et seq., of its commentary to" article 22
that it would be wrong to interpret suspension as
having the effect of nullifying a treaty obligation
(A/CONF.80/4, p. 76); and there were, of course,
some exceptions whereby parties to the future con-
vention would accept the application of a treaty retro-
actively from the date on which the successor State
succeeded to the predecessor State's obligations.

62. His delegation would be grateful for the Expert
Consultant's views on whether draft article 16 as it
stood could deal with such situations or should be
amended.

63. The International Law Commission had decided
that the inclusion of time-limits was not desirable,
since it was impossible to reach agreement on suit-
able periods.

64. His delegation thought that the expression
"universal character" was misleading. There were
certain types of treaty which some countries regarded
as universal in character and others did not; for ex-
ample, his delegation was among those which re-
garded arms limitation treaties as in no way universal
in character, although some delegations had implied
that they were. Even the Charter of the United Na-
tions was not universal in the true sense of the word.
Consequently, if a provision on the lines of the pro-
posed article 16 bis was to be included in the draft
convention, the meaning of the expression "treaty of
a universal character" would need to be very care-
fully defined; otherwise, such a provision might only
confuse the situation and prejudice the effects of a
succession of States.

The meeting rose at 6 p.m.

26th MEETING

Monday, 25 April 1977, at 10.50 a.m.

Chairman: Mr. RIAD (Egypt)

Consideration of the question of succession of States
in respect of treaties in accordance with resolutions
3496 (XXX) and 31/18 adopted by the General As-
sembly on 15 December 1975 and 24 November 1976

[Agenda item 11] {continued)

ARTICLE 16 (Participation in treaties in force at the
date of the succession of States) and PROPOSED NEW
ARTICLE 16 bis (Participation in treaties of a univer-

sal character in force at the date of the succession
of States1 (continued)

1. Mr. HELLNERS (Sweden) said that he con-
sidered both the Netherlands amendment (A/
CONF.80/C.1/L.35) and the Soviet Union proposal
(A/CONF.80/C.1 /L.22) constructive.

2. There was general agreement on the "clean
slate" rule, as had been clearly shown by the pos-
itions taken on article 15. There was also, however, a
desire to prevent a hiatus occurring after a succession
of States in respect of universal conventions, and it
had been observed that in practice most newly inde-
pendent States continued to apply such conventions.
The opponents of the Netherlands amendment and
the proposal by the Soviet Union had argued that the
"clean slate" rule would be virtually emptied of con-
tent if so many conventions were excepted from it.
Some speakers had also referred to the possibility of
newly independent States being faced with unexpect-
ed financial commitments.

3. The number of exceptions to the "clean slate"
rule introduced by the Netherlands amendment and
the proposal by the Soviet Union had been somewhat
exaggerated. The rule would still apply to bilateral
treaties and to many regional treaties. As to financial
commitments, membership in international organiza-
tions, which entailed financial contributions, was out-
side the scope of the draft articles, and the financial
implications of becoming party to diplomatic or
humanitarian conventions should not be overstated.

4. Another point, which was mentioned in para-
graph (8) of the commentary to article 15
(A/CONF.80/4, p. 53), was that much of the con-
tents of the so-called universal conventions was re-
garded as existing international law, independently of
those conventions. In many instances, it could be
maintained that after their adoption, such conven-
tions determined international law. That point was il-
lustrated by the way in which countries which had
not ratified the Vienna Convention on the Law of
Treaties referred to it when the need arose.

5. The Netherlands amendment and the proposal by
the Soviet Union could be improved, particularly in
regard to the concept of presumption in the former
and of temporary application in the latter. The def-
inition of universal conventions also required further
consideration, though it was a great improvement on
earlier drafts.

6. His conclusion was that the differences and dif-
ficulties had been exaggerated. He was inclined to
agree with the representative of the United Republic
of Tanzania that draft articles 16 and 22 together
might lead to a situation very similar to that sought
by the Netherlands amendment and the proposal by

1 For the amendmeni submitted to article 16, see 23rd meeting,
foot-note 14.


